
Lapeer City Commission Agenda 
September 5, 2023 

Page 1 

 
AGENDA 

CITY OF LAPEER 
CITY COMMISSION 

576 LIBERTY PARK, LAPEER, MI 48446 
SEPTEMBER 5, 2023 

 
 
6:30 P.M. CALL TO ORDER 
 
ROLL CALL 
 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
APPROVAL OF SEPTEMBER 5, 2023, AGENDA  
 
A. MINUTES: 
 1. Minutes of the Regular meeting August 21, 2023.  
  
B. PUBLIC COMMENTS: 

 
C. CONSENT AGENDA: 
 1.  Special Event: Porch Fest - September 23, 2023. 
 

SUGGESTED MOTION: 
Approve the Consent Agenda for September 5, 2023. 
  

D. BILL LISTING FOR SEPTEMBER 5, 2023. 
 

SUGGESTED MOTION:  ON A ROLL CALL VOTE: 
Approve the Bill Listing for September 5, 2023, in the amount of $521,146.14. 
 

E. PROCLAMATIONS, RECOGNITIONS AND RESOLUTIONS: 
 1. National Rail Safety Week Proclamation. 

 
SUGGESTED MOTION: 
Adopt the National Rail Safety Week Proclamation. 

 
F. PUBLIC HEARINGS:  
    
G. ADMINISTRATIVE REPORTS: 
 1. Zoning Ordinance – Text Amendment. 

 
SUGGESTED MOTION:  INTRODUCTION BY ONE COMMISSION. 
Introduce an ordinance amendment to Chapter 7 (Zoning Ordinance), Section 7-24.03 
Definitions, Essential Services, of the General Ordinance of the City of Lapeer.  

  
 2. Drinking Water Revolving Fund (DWRF) - Designation of Authorized Project 

Representative. 
 

SUGGESTED MOTION:  
Adopt the resolution to add the Director of Public Works, Jeff Graham, as authorized 
project representative for the Drinking Water Revolving Fund (DWRF). 
 



Lapeer City Commission Agenda 
September 5, 2023 

Page 2 

H. CITY MANAGER’S REPORT: 
1. Postpone Indefinitely – Andrew’s River Estate No. 2, Street Improvement, Special 

Assessment District No. 2023-01. 
 

SUGGESTED MOTION:  
 To amend motion 197 2023 08-21 to:  Postpone Indefinitely Andrew’s River Estate No. 

2, Street Improvement, Special Assessment District No. 2023-01.  
 

I. CITY ATTORNEY’S REPORT: 
 1. None. 
 
J. UNFINISHED BUSINESS: 
 1. Appointments to Boards and Commissions. 
 
K. DEPARTMENTAL COMMUNICATIONS: 

1. Downtown Development Authority Monthly Report. 
  
L. PUBLIC COMMENTS:  
 
M. CLOSING COMMENTS: 
 1. Commissioners. 
 2. City Manager. 
 3. Mayor. 
 
N. REMINDER OF MEETINGS: 
 Next City Commission Meeting: Monday, SEPTEMBER 18, 2023, Regular 
 
O. REMINDER OF PUBLIC HEARINGS: 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
 
MATERIAL TRANSMITTAL 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Notice:   
Persons with disabilities needing accommodations for effective participation through electronic means in this meeting 
should contact the City Clerk at (810) 664-5231 or by email at clerk@ci.lapeer.mi.us at least two working days in advance 
of the meeting.  An attempt will be made to make reasonable accommodations. 



 

Lapeer City Commission Regular Minutes 
August 21, 2023 

Page 1 
 

LAPEER CITY COMMISSION 
MINUTES OF A REGULAR MEETING 

AUGUST 21, 2023 
 

A regular meeting of the Lapeer City Commission was held August 21, 2023, at the Lapeer 
City Hall, 576 Liberty Park, Lapeer, Michigan.  The meeting was called to order at 6:30 p.m.  
 
ROLL CALL 
Present: Mayor Marquardt. 
 Commissioners:  Atwood, Cattane, Pattison, Stroh, Swindell. 
Absent: None. 
 
City Manager:  Mike Womack, present. 
 
Mayor Marquardt led the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
191 2023 08-21  AGENDA APPROVAL 
Moved by Cattane.  Seconded by Stroh. 
Approve the Agenda for August 21, 2023, as presented. 
Ayes:  Atwood, Cattane, Pattison, Stroh, Swindell. 
Nays:   None. 
MOTION CARRIED. 
 
192 2023 08-21  MINUTES 
Moved by Cattane.  Seconded by Swindell. 
Approve the minutes of the regular meeting held August 7, 2023, as presented. 
Ayes:  Atwood, Cattane, Pattison, Stroh, Swindell. 
Nays:   None. 
MOTION CARRIED. 
 
PUBLIC COMMENTS 
Brad Haggadone, Lapeer County Commissioner, provided an update to the Commission 
regarding the Lapeer County Board of Commissioners proceedings. 
 
Jeramy Hing, spoke about some dead ash trees that are on a parcel that abuts up to his 
property; upset about the rudeness he encountered at the Department of Public Works.   
 
Melissa Petrie gave an invocation.  
 
Brent from Above Par Disc Golf gave an update on the course and is looking forward to the 
grand opening on September 24, 2023. 
 
Sam Howard, commented on the Youth Council and hoped to see it continue. 
 
Linda Glisman complimented the Chamber of Commerce for the organization of the Lapeer 
Days event.   
  



 

Lapeer City Commission Regular Minutes 
August 21, 2023 

Page 2 
 

 
193 2023 08-21  CONSENT AGENDA 
Moved by Cattane.  Seconded by Swindell. 
Approve the consent agenda for August 21, 2023, as presented: 
 1. Fixed Asset Disposal – Scag Mower. 
 2. Metro Act Right of Way Permit Extension – AT&T. 
 3. Special Event: Disc Golf Grand Opening, September 24, 2023. 
 4. Authorize City Manager or Police Chief to designate a Code Enforcement Officer.  
Ayes:  Atwood, Cattane, Pattison, Stroh, Swindell. 
Nays:   None. 
MOTION CARRIED. 
 
194 2023 08-21  BILL LISTING 
Moved by Pattison.  Seconded by Stroh. 
Approve the bill listing for August 21, 2023, in the amount of $3,437,272.84. 
Ayes:  Atwood, Cattane, Pattison, Stroh, Swindell. 
Nays:   None. 
MOTION CARRIED. 
 
PROCLAMATION, RECOGNITIONS AND RESOLUTIONS: 
195 2023 08-21  PROCLAMATION – JAMES E. MUXLOW 
Moved by Swindell.  Seconded by Pattison. 
Adopt the proclamation for James Muxlow, as presented.  
 

Proclamation 
In Recognition of James E. Muxlow 

WHEREAS, James E. Muxlow served as a Firefighter with the City of Lapeer Fire & 
Rescue Department from March 19, 1991, through June 10, 2023; and 

WHEREAS, James E. Muxlow is an individual of great personal integrity and has 
given conscientious service to the citizens of the City of Lapeer and Lapeer County; and  

WHEREAS, James E. Muxlow exemplifies professionalism, dependability, caring and 
hard work in his service as a Firefighter; and 

WHEREAS, through his persistence, hard work, and dedication, James E. Muxlow has 
set an example for all Firefighters and is honored by his community. 

  NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that I, Debbie Marquardt, Mayor of the City of 
Lapeer, and the Lapeer City Commission, take this opportunity on behalf of the people of the 
City of Lapeer to express official gratitude and deep appreciation to James E. Muxlow for his 
efforts and devotion to public service, and wish him continued success in all his endeavors. 
 
Dated this 21st day of August 2023. 
Ayes:  Atwood, Cattane, Pattison, Stroh, Swindell. 
Nays:   None. 
MOTION CARRIED. 
  



 

Lapeer City Commission Regular Minutes 
August 21, 2023 

Page 3 
 

PUBLIC HEARINGS 
Mayor Marquardt opened the public hearing for Andrew’s River Estates No. 2, Street 
Improvement, Special Assessment District at 6:50 p.m. 
 
Mike Higgins, 334 Old Farm Lane, thanked the Commission for taking an interest in this 
project.  Stated the City was negligent in collecting the bonds at the beginning of this project 
and feels many of the residents’ object to this project and it is wrong. He would like the 
project to go forward, however, they do not what to pay for the project.   
 
Jeramy Hing, spoke against the special assessment.  He feels the City should take 
responsibility for this expense and stated residents have hired an attorney out of Royal Oak 
to represent them. 
 
Donna Whittier, 46 Old Carriage Lane, stated the letter she received for the road was only for 
an estimate of the cost.  She understands we have a new City Manager and would like to see 
the project put on hold.   
 
Aaron Hartley, 63 Old Farm Ct., objects to this special assessment.   
 
Jim Zabel, 427 Old Farm Lane, was at the last meeting, objects to the unethical findings and 
actions. 
 
There being no further comments, Mayor Marquardt closed the public hearing at 7:02 p.m. 
 
196 2023 08-21  ANDREW’S RIVER ESTATES NO. 2, SPECIAL ASSESSMENT 
DISTRICT  
Moved by Pattison.  Seconded by Cattane. 
To table the public hearing of Andrew’s River Estates No. 2, Special Assessment District until 
the next regular meeting.   
Ayes:  Atwood, Cattane, Pattison, Stroh, Swindell. 
Nays:   None. 
MOTION CARRIED. 
 
AMENDMENT TO SOMETHING PREVIOUSLY ADOPTED – MOTION 196 2023 08-21 
 
197 2023 08-21  ANDREW’S RIVER ESTATES NO. 2, SPECIAL ASSESSMENT 
DISTRICT  
Moved by Pattison.  Seconded by Cattane. 
To table the public hearing of Andrew’s River Estates No. 2, Special Assessment District until 
the regular meeting of September 18, 2023.     
Ayes:  Atwood, Cattane, Pattison, Stroh, Swindell. 
Nays:   None. 
MOTION CARRIED. 
 
198 2023 08-21  RECESS  
Moved by Cattane.  Seconded by Pattison. 
To take a five (5) minute recess.  
Ayes:  Atwood, Cattane, Pattison, Stroh, Swindell. 
Nays:   None. 



 

Lapeer City Commission Regular Minutes 
August 21, 2023 

Page 4 
 

MOTION CARRIED. 
The Commission took a recess from the regular meeting from 7:41 p.m. – 7:47 p.m. 
 
ADMINISTRATIVE REPORTS: 
199 2023 08-21  HYDROCORP CONTRACT – CROSS CONNECTION 
PROGRAM 
Moved by Pattison.  Seconded by Cattane. 
Approve the contract with HydroCorp for Cross Connection Services not to exceed 
$23,874.00 and authorize the Director of Public Works to sign all necessary documents. 
ON A ROLL CALL VOTE: 
Ayes:  Cattane, Pattison, Stroh, Swindell, Atwood. 
Nays:   None. 
MOTION CARRIED. 
 
200 2023 08-21  BUDGET AMENDMENTS FY2023-24 
Moved by Cattane.  Seconded by Swindell. 
Approve the budget amendments for FY2023-2024 as presented. 

All Budget adjustments must be whole dollars. Negative numbers should be in parenthesis ( ). 
  

 ACCOUNT #    
 

ACCOUNT NAME 
AMOUNT OF 
ADJUST. (+/-) 

1 101-262-901.000 Election Printing 3,000.00 
2 101-336-741.000 Fire Uniforms 20,000.00 
2 101-336-815.000 Fire Contractual Services 7,000.00 
3 590-555-974.000 WWTP Land Improvements 70,000.00 
4 450-966-995.590 Transfer to Wastewater 103,941.00 
4 590-964-699.450 Transfer from Land Acquisition 103,941.00 
5 101-721-815.000 Planning contractual services 4,500.00 
6 202-463-815.000 Major St - contractual services 2,800.00 
7 101-721-815.000 Planning contractual services 11,700.00 
8 101-172-815.000 Planning contractual services 5,000.00 

 
     TOTAL NET INCREASE     331,882.00 
ON A ROLL CALL VOTE: 
Ayes:  Pattison, Stroh, Swindell, Atwood, Cattane.  
Nays:   None. 
MOTION CARRIED. 
 
201 2023 08-21  CREDIT CARD USE POLICY 
Moved by Cattane.  Seconded by Swindell. 
Adopt the Resolution to approve the Credit Card/Purchasing Card Policy. 

Resolution #2023-27 
City of Lapeer 

Credit Card Use Policy  
In accordance with P.A. 266 of 1995 

 
Whereas, the Michigan Legislature has enacted Public Act 266 of 1995 authorizing and 
regulating credit card transactions involving units of government, such as cities, and also 
providing that the City officers and employees may use credit cards/purchasing cards for the 
purchase of goods and services for the official business of the City provided that the 



 

Lapeer City Commission Regular Minutes 
August 21, 2023 

Page 5 
 

governing body of the City has adopted by resolution a written policy regulating the use of 
said credit cards/purchasing cards; and 
 
Whereas, the City of Lapeer, pursuant to Public Act 266 of 1995, desires to establish a policy 
for the use of City issued credit card/purchasing cards; and 
 
Whereas, the Director of Financial Services shall be responsible for administering and 
generally overseeing this purchasing card policy. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Lapeer City Commission approves and 
adopts the City of Lapeer Credit Card/Purchasing Cards and Procedures which is attached 
hereto and incorporated by reference herein, with said policies and procedures applying to all 
employees who are issued a City of Lapeer Purchasing Card. 
Ayes:  Atwood, Cattane, Pattison, Stroh, Swindell. 
Nays:   None. 
MOTION CARRIED. RESOLUTION DECLARED ADOPTED. 
 
CITY MANAGER’S REPORT 
City Manager Womack stated he enjoyed his first Lapeer Days.  It has been very busy at City 
Hall; staff is doing a great job; proud to serve alongside them.  Fire Chief Vogt did a great job 
at the dunk tank.  Appreciates the Commissions support on the governmental transparency 
and the other things that we are working on.  Tonight’s discussion was difficult, and there are 
equally ethical and appropriate philosophies on how to run a government and we saw a great 
exercise in that tonight.   
 
CITY ATTORNEY’S REPORT 
None.  
 
UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
202 2023 08-21  REAPPOINTMENT TO LAPEER COUNTY CENTRAL 
DISPATCH AUTHORITY 
Moved by Stroh.  Seconded by Cattane. 
To reappoint Michael Vogt to the Lapeer County Central Dispatch Authority for a term to 
expire September 2026.   
Ayes:  Atwood, Cattane, Pattison, Stroh, Swindell. 
Nays:   None. 
MOTION CARRIED. 
 
DEPARTMENTAL REPORTS 
The Monthly Departmental Reports, the DDA Monthly Report, and the Marihuana License 
Update Report were received into the record, as presented. 
 
PUBLIC COMMENTS 
None. 
 
MAYOR/COMMISSIONER COMMENTS  
Commissioner Cattane:  Lapeer Days was great; thanked all City employees for their efforts 
in helping with this event; the clean-up started quickly but the Parks Department will be 
dealing with the grass at  Annrook Park.  Praised City Administration as the agenda 



 

Lapeer City Commission Regular Minutes 
August 21, 2023 

Page 6 
 

packages are now available for the public online to view; members of the public will be able 
to see everything that we see.  
Commissioner Atwood:  Thanked the Chamber of Commerce and all the volunteers for their 
efforts on Lapeer Days.  Thanked City staff for all their hard work getting the downtown 
cleaned up for tonight’s car show.  In regard to the Special Assessment, he supports city staff 
as they are only doing what they are directed to do; the Commission should have said no to 
this from the beginning or tried to figure something else out; feels we can come to a 
conclusion.  Many of us were not here when this took place 25 years ago. 
 
Commissioner Stroh:  Echoes the comments of Commissioner Atwood; thanked the Chambe 
of Commerce for an amazing event; thanked City staff for turning the downtown around for 
yet another DDA event on the heels of Lapeer Days.  Not his intent to frustrate staff; believes 
everyone is doing an amazing job.  This issue has carried over through administrations and 
now we need to correct it; we need more information.  Thanked everyone for their hard work 
and due diligence that everyone continues to do.  Does feel we can find a resolution to this 
issue; happy to be working through this with such good people.  
 
Commissioner Swindell:  Thanked everyone for all their efforts on Lapeer Days; it takes a 
large amount of people to pull this event off.  Went to the grand opening of the disc golf 
course at Torzewski Park, county came together and got it done.  September 23, 2023, is a 
busy day in the City of Lapeer with three different events happening.  Disc Golf opening is 
September 24, 2023.  Enjoy the city and be outside, lots of things to do. 
   
Commissioner Pattison:  While visiting relatives in Detroit over the weekend, went to Eastern 
Market and they have blocked off some roadways and painted pickle ball courts on them.  
City did a great job for Lapeer days; couldn’t be prouder.   
 
City Manager Womack:  Staff has been great and very ethical; happy to work with.  Visited a 
park in another City yesterday; likes to see what we can do better for our citizens.     
 
Mayor Marquardt:  Spent a decent amount of time at Lapeer Days; attended the opening 
ceremony and the parade.  Thanked all the City employees for all their efforts to the event.  
This event takes a long time to plan; had the privilege of judging a couple of contests.  Read 
the list of local events.   
 
203 2023 08-21  ADJOURNMENT 
Having no further business, Mayor Marquardt adjourned the regular meeting at 8:08 p.m.   
 
 
 
              
Debbie Marquardt, Mayor     Romona Sanchez, City Clerk 



ITEM C-1  
To: Mike Womack, City Manager 
From: Jeremy Howe, Chief of Police 
Date: August 31, 2023 
RE: Special Event – Porch Fest 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
To Approve the Event.  
 
CURRENT OR NEW INFORMATION  
We have received a request from the Lapeer Downtown Development Authority Director Jim 
Alt to hold an event in the downtown area titled: Porch Fest on Saturday, September 23, 2023 
from 10AM to 8:00PM. Event will be utilizing sidewalk spaces that are in front of retail 
businesses and restaurants to create an all day music festival throughout the downtown area.  
 
BACKGROUND OR PREVIOUSLY SUBMITTED INFORMATION  
This is now an annual event.     
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

AGENDA ITEM REVIEW 
 
 Meeting Date: September 5, 2023 Date Reviewed: August 31, 2023 
 Consent:  X 
 Administrative:  Reviewed By: D. Jansen, Deputy City Clerk 
 Public Hearing: 
 











ITEM D-1   

 

To: Mayor and City Commission 
From: Kelly Hanna, Director of Financial Services 
Date:  
RE: Bill Listing – September 5, 2023 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Approve the bill listing as presented. 

 

CURRENT OR NEW INFORMATION  
I, Kelly Hanna, Director of Financial Services, have reviewed the bills for AUGUST 19, 2023 through 
AUGUST 31, 2023,  in the total amount of $521,146.14 and find them to be proper charges. 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

AGENDA ITEM REVIEW 
 
 Meeting Date: September 5, 2023 Date Reviewed: August 31, 2023 
 Consent: X    
 Administrative:   Reviewed By:  D. Jansen, Deputy Clerk 
 Public Hearing: 
 
 
S:\City Logo\City Logo 2022\Templates\Interoffice Memo\Interoffice Memo - AGENDA.docx 



      CHECK REGISTER FOR CITY OF LAPEER       
 CHECK DATE FROM 08/19/2023 - 08/31/2023 

Check Date Check Vendor Vendor Name Amount

08/31/2023 596844 009602 WALDORF & SONS, INC 159,602.44
08/31/2023 596817 000261 LAPEER CO TREASURER 89,716.69
08/31/2023 1585(E) 000234 DTE ENERGY 70,117.94
08/31/2023 1581(A) 000256 TIFA 1 29,322.83
08/25/2023 1560(E) 007245 FIRST NATIONAL BANK 28,291.12
08/31/2023 1571(A) 000138 MICHIGAN MUNICIPAL WORKERS 21,849.00
08/31/2023 1582(A) 000257 TIFA 2 17,914.25
08/31/2023 1583(A) 000258 TIFA 3 12,855.51
08/31/2023 1568(A) 000507 LOCAL DEV FINANCE AUTH 10,748.40
08/31/2023 596806 MISC-TAX CORELOGIC 10,307.43
08/31/2023 1564(A) 000039 FEHR GRAHAM & ASSOCIATES, LLC 8,000.00
08/31/2023 1575(A) 010259 REHMANN LLC 6,000.00
08/31/2023 1584(A) 000005 VC3, INC. 4,718.25
08/31/2023 1577(A) 000279 ROWE INC 4,393.75
08/31/2023 1562(A) 006793 DEE CRAMER 3,852.23
08/31/2023 596809 000259 DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 3,596.03
08/31/2023 596823 010052 MGS ELECTRIC INC. 3,120.00
08/31/2023 1574(A) 007285 PARAGON LABORATORIES, INC. 2,969.00
08/31/2023 596825 001961 MICHIGAN PIPE & VALVE 2,720.49
08/31/2023 1569(A) 009081 MAUK, JODI 2,066.67
08/31/2023 1579(A) 009245 SMITH, SHANNON 2,066.67
08/31/2023 596839 005629 TETRA TECH, INC. 1,883.00
08/31/2023 596838 000107 T. P. ISRAEL CO INC 1,770.00
08/31/2023 596818 000260 LAPEER COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 1,616.14
08/31/2023 596836 007467 STATE OF MICHIGAN 1,583.00
08/31/2023 596830 009857 PHIL STARR & SON 1,337.96
08/31/2023 1580(A) 008345 TAYLOR, SARAH 1,287.83
08/31/2023 596802 008643 ACE-SAGINAW PAVING CO. 1,281.15
08/31/2023 596826 MISC-TAX MYCUMORTGAGE 1,213.39
08/31/2023 596811 005988 FOSTER OIL CO 1,203.05
08/31/2023 1572(A) 007468 NORTH CENTRAL LABS 1,088.18
08/31/2023 596842 007894 VERIZON WIRELESS 1,042.19
08/31/2023 1588(E) 009671 WINDSTREAM 1,021.43
08/31/2023 1573(A) 004953 NYE UNIFORM CO 960.91
08/31/2023 1565(A) 005636 GERLACH'S BOWLING CENTER INC. 875.00
08/31/2023 596807 004422 CRAIG'S SIGNS 775.00
08/31/2023 1567(A) 009738 JOHNSON CONTROLS SEC. SOLUTIONS 605.18
08/31/2023 596801 MISC-TAX AB LAPEER PROPERTIES 468.50
08/31/2023 596832 006267 SAM'S CLUB 459.00
08/31/2023 1576(A) 005950 RICK RHEIN DISPOSAL 410.00
08/31/2023 596841 000265 U.S. POSTMASTER 398.00
08/31/2023 1570(A) 009382 MAURER'S TEXTILE RENTAL SERVICES 379.79

ITEM D



08/31/2023 1561(A) 000188 CORRIGAN OIL II, INC. 343.00
08/31/2023 596820 009739 MARCO TECHNOLOGIES, LLC 330.18
08/31/2023 596816 000970 JAY'S SEPTIC 330.00
08/31/2023 596831 004959 PRINTING SYSTEMS 324.67
08/31/2023 596828 MISC-BDG NORTHWIND ELECTRIC 297.00
08/31/2023 596808 000058 DELYNN'S DESIGNS, INC 291.30
08/31/2023 596840 006019 TRW LANDSCAPES LLC 282.50
08/31/2023 1566(A) 009454 GROTH, JENICE JOY 276.50
08/31/2023 596845 MISC-TAX WESTVIEW CAPITAL LLC 274.67
08/31/2023 596835 000250 STATE OF MICHIGAN 265.51
08/31/2023 596829 007046 OWEN, SCOTT 250.00
08/31/2023 1563(A) 008540 FASTENAL COMPANY 220.94
08/31/2023 596837 008241 STATE TAX COMMISSION 150.00
08/31/2023 596813 006805 GROUP RESOURCES 148.00
08/31/2023 1586(E) 000010 INVOICE CLOUD 130.00
08/31/2023 596805 000131 BLIGHT'S CUSTOM LETTERING 118.00
08/31/2023 1578(A) 009923 SHORELINE INVESTMENT SERV. INC. 108.95
08/31/2023 596803 MISC-BDG BIG BEN ENTERPRISES 100.00
08/31/2023 596810 MISC-BDG ECKER MECHANICAL CONTRACTORS, INC 100.00
08/31/2023 596815 MISC-BDG HOLLAND HEATING & COOLING, INC 100.00
08/31/2023 596827 MISC-BDG NORTH WIND ELECTRIC 100.00
08/31/2023 596847 MISC-BDG WILLIAM E. WALTER, INC 100.00
08/31/2023 1587(E) 000220 U.S. BANK 86.00
08/31/2023 596824 000643 MI STATE FIREMEN'S ASSOC 83.56
08/31/2023 596804 MISC-BDG BIG BEN ENTERPRISES 81.00
08/31/2023 596846 000217 WETZEL, ALPHA 76.09
08/31/2023 596834 000219 SHIBLEY, STEPHANIE 61.55
08/31/2023 596814 MISC CC HARMON, BRIANNA 60.00
08/31/2023 596821 MISC-TAX MCRAE, JOHN EDWIN 55.00
08/31/2023 596843 001824 VILLAGE PRINTING 41.00
08/31/2023 596822 010049 MEDSTAR, INC 40.00
08/31/2023 596812 MISC-TAX GRAHAM, ZACHARY 11.76
08/31/2023 596819 MISC-TAX LUKE, ROBERT 11.76
08/31/2023 596833 MISC-TAX SHELTON, JENNIFER 9.80

Total $521,146.14



CITY OF LAPEER 
Proclamation 

National Rail Safety Week 

 
WHEREAS, 2,194 rail grade crossing collisions resulted in 803 personal injuries and were 
responsible for 274 fatalities in the United States during 2022; and  

 
WHEREAS, 1,208 trespassing incidents have occurred in the United States resulting in 658 
pedestrians being killed and another 550 injured while trespassing on railroad property rights of 
way during 2022; and  

 
WHEREAS, educating and informing the public about rail safety, reminding the public that railroad 
right of ways are private property, enhancing public awareness of the dangers associated with 
highway rail grade crossings, ensuring pedestrians and motorists are looking and listening while 
near railways, and obeying established traffic laws will reduce the number of fatalities and injuries; 
and 

 
WHEREAS, the International Association of Chiefs of Police, National Operation Lifesaver, United 
States Department of Transportation, and all local, state, county, and railroad law enforcement 
officers, first responders, and railroad corporations commit to partnering together in an effort to 
educate at a national level all aspects of railroad safety, to enforce applicable laws in support of 
National Rail Safety Week. 

 
THEREFORE, I, Debbie Marquardt, Mayor of the City of Lapeer, and the Lapeer City Commission 
do hereby proclaim the week of September 18 to 24, 2023, National Rail Safety Week and I 
encourage all citizens to recognize the importance of rail safety education. 

 
Dated this 5th day of September 2023. 

     

                   
           

Debbie Marquardt, Mayor 

      
                
Joshua Atwood, Commissioner      Eric Cattane, Commissioner 

        
                
Jeffrey Pattison, Commissioner      Tony Stroh, Commissioner 

            
Marlana Swindell, Commissioner  Mike Womack, City Manager 



ITEM G-1 

 

To: Mayor and City Commission 
From: Jason Ball AICP, City Planning Consultant 
Date: August 22, 2023 
RE: Zoning Ordinance Text Amendment – Essential Services Definition 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Based on the recommendation of the Planning Commission, City Staff recommends approval 
of the proposed text amendment. 
  
CURRENT OR NEW INFORMATION  
During the August 2023 meeting, the Planning Commission held a public hearing and made a 
motion to recommend a text amendment to modify the definition of “essential services” in the 
zoning ordinance. This amendment was initiated based on information provided by 
International Transmission Company (ITC). The recommended text amendment is to Section 
7-24.03 and is provided below with changes indicated in red text.  
 
Essential Services.  

The erection, construction, alteration, or maintenance by public or quasi-public franchised 
utilities or municipal departments or commissions of underground, surface, or overhead 
gas, electrical, steam, or water transmission or distribution systems, collection, 
communication, supply or disposal systems. These may include, but are not necessarily 
limited to: mains, drains, sewers, pipes, conduits, wires, cables, fire alarm boxes, traffic 
signals, hydrants, towers, poles, and other similar equipment, and accessories in 
connection therewith reasonably necessary for the furnishing of adequate service by such 
public utilities or quasi-public utilities or municipal departments or commissions or for the 
public health or general welfare. Essential services shall not include buildings other than 
control buildings or such buildings that are primarily enclosures or shelters of the above 
essential service equipment. Cellular telephone or communications towers as defined by 
this article shall not be considered essential services. 
 

ITC addressed the Planning Commission in July 2023 and the Planning Commission initiated 
the text amendment at that time. The amendment is necessary to clarify the status of ITC 
improvements to electrical grid infrastructure in Lapeer.  
 
 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM REVIEW 
 
 Meeting Date: September 5, 2023 Date Reviewed: August 29, 2023 
 Consent: 
 Administrative: X Reviewed By: R. Sanchez, City Clerk 
 Public Hearing: 
 

L:\Zoning Ordinance Amendments\Text Amendments - 2018 to Present\2023\Essential Services - August 2023\Essential Services Text 
Amendment - Memo to CC.docx 





 
 
 
 

Ordinance No. 2023-03 
 
At a regular meeting of the Lapeer City Commission on Tuesday, September 5, 2023, at 
6:30 p.m. in the Lapeer City Commission Chambers of Lapeer City Hall, 576 Liberty Park, 
Lapeer, Michigan, Commissioner___________ introduced the following amendment to 
Chapter 7 (Zoning) of the General Ordinances of the City of Lapeer. 
 
 
THE CITY OF LAPEER ORDAINS: 
 
Changes to Chapter 7 (Zoning): 
 
Section 7-24.03 Definitions. 
 
Essential Services.  

The erection, construction, alteration, or maintenance by public or quasi-public 
franchised utilities or municipal departments or commissions of underground, surface, or 
overhead gas, electrical, steam, or water transmission or distribution systems, collection, 
communication, supply or disposal systems. These may include, but are not necessarily 
limited to: mains, drains, sewers, pipes, conduits, wires, cables, fire alarm boxes, traffic 
signals, hydrants, towers, poles, and other similar equipment, and accessories in 
connection therewith reasonably necessary for the furnishing of adequate service by 
such public utilities or quasi-public utilities or municipal departments or commissions or 
for the public health or general welfare. Essential services shall not include buildings 
other than control buildings or such buildings that are primarily enclosures or shelters of 
the above essential service equipment. Cellular telephone or communications towers as 
defined by this article shall not be considered essential services. 

 
 
 
 
Introduced: 09/05/23 Published: 09/10/2023 
Adopted: TBD  Published: TBD  Effective:  TBD 
 
Ordinance Effective Date: Shall take effect 7 days after publication, unless given 
immediate effect by City Commission.  
 



ITEM G-2 

S:\City Commission Paperless\2023 Paperless Agenda\09-05-2023\G-2 Resolution - DWRF.docx 
 

To: Mayor and City Commissioners 
From: Mike Womack, City Manager 
Date: August 29, 2023 
RE: DWRF – Designation of Authorized Project Representative 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Adopt the resolution to add the Director of Public Works, Jeff Graham, as authorized project 
representative for the Drinking Water Revolving Fund (DWRF).  
 
CURRENT OR NEW INFORMATION  
 
At the request of EGLE, the authorized representative for the DWRF needs to be updated.  This is due 
to the retirement of City Manager, Dale Kerbyson, who was previously named.  
 
Please see the attached resolution.  
 
  
 
 
BACKGROUND OR PREVIOUSLY SUBMITTED INFORMATION  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM REVIEW 
 
 Meeting Date: September 5, 2023 Date Reviewed: August 29, 2023 
 Consent:  
Administrative: X Reviewed By: R. Sanchez, City Clerk 
Public Hearing:  
 





Resolution #2023-28 
 

A RESOLUTION ADOPTING A FINAL PROJECT PLAN  FOR 
WATER SYSTEM IMPROVEMENTS AND DESIGNATING AN 

AUTHORIZED PROJECT REPRESENTATIVE 
 

Present:    
 

Absent:  
 
Motion by: Commissioner  Supported by:  Commissioner  
 
WHEREAS, the City of Lapeer recognizes the need to make improvements to its existing water 
treatment and distribution system; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Lapeer authorized Spicer Group, Inc. to prepare a Project Plan, which 
recommends the construction of watermain replacement along W. Genesee St. from Millville 
Rd. to Harrison St., watermain replacement along Harrison St. from W. Genesee St. to Liberty 
St., hydro excavation, and identification of approximately 7010 water services located through 
the city and the replacement of all identified lead and/o galvanized waters services; and 

WHEREAS, said Project Plan was presented at a Public Hearing held on June 7, 2021, and 
all public comments have been considered and addressed. 
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the City of Lapeer formally adopts said Project 
Plan and agrees to implement the selected alternative (Water System Improvements). 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Director of Public Works, a position currently held by 
Jeff Graham is designated as the authorized representative retroactive to the retirement date 
(March 31, 2023) of City Manager, Dale Kerbyson, for all activities associated with the project 
referenced above, including the submittal of said Project Plan as the first step in applying to 
the State of Michigan for a Drinking Water Revolving Fund Loan to assist in the implementation 
of the selected alternative. 
 
Dated this 5th day of September 2023. 
ON A ROLL CALL VOTE: 
Ayes:  . 
Nays:  None. 
Absent: None. 
MOTION CARRIED. 
 
I certify that the above Resolution was adopted by Lapeer City Commission on September 5, 
2023. 
 
Signature  Date    
 
BY:      Romona Sanchez, City Clerk  

Name and Title (please print or type) 



ITEM J-1 

 

To: Mayor and City Commission 
Date: September 5, 2023 
RE: Board & Commission Appointments                  
  

MAYORAL APPOINTMENT 
 

BOARD OR 
COMMISSION MEMBER NAME 

CURRENT 
TERM 

EXPIRES 
TERM 

LENGTH 

 
NEW TERM 

EXPIRATION 

 
COMMENTS 
Re:  STATUS 

Cemetery Board Vacancy Apr. 1, 2028 5 Year 
 Awaiting 

Recommendation 

County Center Board Vacancy Jan. 1, 2024 1 Year 
 

 Awaiting 
Recommendation 

Local Development 
Finance Authority Don Dube Aug. 1, 2023 4 Year 

A 

Aug. 1, 2027 

Recommend 
Reappointment 

 
 
COMMISSION APPOINTMENTS 
 

BOARD OR 
COMMISSION MEMBER NAME EXPIRATION TERM 

LENGTH 
NEW TERM 

EXPIRATION 
COMMENTS 
Re:  STATUS 

Income Tax 
 Board of Review Vacancy Dec. 1, 2024 3 Year  Awaiting 

Recommendation 
Local Officers 
Compensation 
Commission 

Vacancy Oct. 1, 2027 5 Year  
Awaiting 

Recommendation 

Prison Liaison 
Committee Vacancy Apr. 1, 2025 3 Year  Awaiting 

Recommendation 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM REVIEW 
 
 Meeting Date: August 21, 2023 Date Reviewed: August 15, 2023  
 Consent: 
Administrative: X Reviewed By: D. Jansen, Deputy Clerk 
Public Hearing:  
 



From: Laura Tandy
To: Romona Sanchez
Subject: LDFA Board
Date: Monday, August 28, 2023 1:36:33 PM
Attachments: image001.png

Don Dube has also agreed to continue serving on the LDFA Board.
 
 
Laura Tandy
Office Manager
Lapeer Development Corporation
449 McCormick Drive
Lapeer, MI 48446
Ph: 810-667-0080
www.lapeerdevelopment.com

 

mailto:Laura@Lapeerdevelopment.com
mailto:rsanchez@ci.lapeer.mi.us
http://www.lapeerdevelopment.com/



1 

Item K-1 

Downtown Development Authority 
 August 17, 2023

It’s hard to believe that Lapeer Days is upon us and our summer is winding down. It has been a busy summer 
and I think we’ve been able to boost the positivity of what Lapeer Main Street has been able to do for the 
community.  
An interesting observation that I would invite you to check out as well… I was playing with Google Maps, 
utilizing the Street View of our downtown. While you’re in Street View you can compare views dating back 10+ 
years. I.E. What the view from the street look liked in 2013, 2017, 2020, present day, etc. It’s really cool to be 
able to see how much our downtown has transformed, especially in the last five years. I believe that is in large 
part because of the work that we have been able to do through the Lapeer Main Street DDA.  

Lapeer Main Street DDA 
• Michigan Main Street Program/Michigan Downtown Association

o Michigan Main Street
1. Our Main Street National Accreditation Self-Assessment is due Friday the 25th. Please

be sure to complete these, score each section and so that we can discuss and I can
submit final results by Friday, the 25, of August.

2. I’ll continue working on our asset mapping and still need to schedule a time to connect
with those of you that are interested in helping with the business mapping. This will
allow us to update our building inventory with a more accurate representation.

3. Lapeer will host National and Michigan Main Street Staff ON SITE this year on October
17. This visit will last about 3 to 4 hours and will include time with local staff, City
officials, and DDA/Main Street board members.

Upcoming Dates 
4. October 2/3, 2023: Director Retreat
5. October 17 - on-site Accreditation Visits

o Upcoming Dates to be aware of MDA:
1. November 2/3 – MDA Annual Conference – Birmingham - $275

Business Development - Economic Vitality 
• Business Recruitment/Retention and Support

o The Business Development committee has not met, I am working with Jeff to set up an initial
meeting for the committee to review the goals outlined under our transformation strategy.

o Current Empty storefronts and available properties include:
1. 380 N. Saginaw (next to C&D collision)
2. 26 Park Street – Auto Wash – For Sale
3. 368 Jefferson St. – Forever Friends Network/Perkins Flowers
4. 18 E. Nepessing St. – City Owned property – Empty, not currently for sale
5. 10 E. Nepessing St. – Flannagan’s/Fat Boys. For Sale. (Including Liquor

License)
6. 350 N. Court Street – 2nd/3rd Floor office space available
7. 44 W. Park Street – Calvelli’s For Sale (Including Liquor License) – There is an

offer on the property, however we are currently talking with another prospective
party that is interested in the site as well.

8. 606 N. Saginaw Street
9. 328 W. Nepessing St – Was going to be Cherry’s. Space is available for lease.

o Buildings Sold



2 
 

1. 44 W. Park Street – Calvelli’s.- Pending  
 

o New Business Opening: 
1. 10 E. Nepessing Street – Flannagan’s Pizza Buffet 
2. 450 W. Nepessing Street – Kin Thai – looking at late summer 
3. 458 W. Nepessing Street – Studio E/The Whitney – soon 
4. 454 W. Nepessing Street – The Doghouse Coffee Roastery – hoping to open by Lapeer 

Days 
 

o Business owner/Property Owner Engagement 
1. Axecadia – I spent some time meeting with Axecadia to discuss what they might expect 

for Lapeer Days and how they can bring traffic into their business during that event. We 
also spent quite a bit of time talking about future strategies for their business. They 
have some exciting plans for their growth that include possibly adding an additional 
floor to their building. This would be a second/third story that would have a small 
restaurant/dining space and include a roof-top patio area. The owners of Axecadia are 
getting started with conversations with the planning department and the building 
department to see what would be needed for the project. I’m exploring possible 
incentives for their project that could help offset some of the costs, including fire 
suppression which I would anticipate would be needed. Some possibilities include a 
Match on Main Grant, or a Build Mi Communities Grant, which could be as high as 
$250,000 

2. The Doghouse Coffee Roastery - Sam Moore from the LDC and myself had a great 
meeting with the owners of The Doghouse Coffee Company as they get closer to 
opening their doors. They are already talking about future growth within the community 
and are potentially looking to invest more into the downtown with multiple new 
businesses.  

3. Flannagan’s Pizza Buffet – I met with Aaron, owner of Flannagan’s. This new endeavor 
will be in the same location as Flannagan’s bar/Fat Boys, however, it will be a Pizza 
Buffet. They will not be utilizing the liquor license that is currently at that address. That 
license will stay in escrow and is available. The Pizza Buffet will be family-friendly and 
open 3 days a week to start with additional nights that will function as comedy nights.  

4. We are currently keeping our eyes on a few other spaces that will be opening in the 
next few months within the downtown and looking for potential businesses to fill these 
spaces. I’m talking with and hoping to stay engaged with the property owners to help 
find businesses that will support our efforts within the downtown and add to our growing 
diverse business mix.  

 
Placemaking - Design: 

o The placemaking committee met on August 15 to review its action items and proposed projects 
that were identified at our annual retreat. In attendance were Director LaMagna and 
Chairperson Bostick, and Director Schwab.  The committee spent time talking about next steps 
and creating action items for the projects that they identified as priority items based on the DDA 
transformation strategy. 
The committee is also planning on doing a walking planning session on October 9, at 8:00am. 
The plan is to spend the morning walking the DDA district and identifying potential areas for 
wayfinding, signage, and additional improvements throughout the downtown.  

o Updates on projects include: 
 Developing Wayfinding signage – in partnership with the City, the committee will begin 

to develop a plan for wayfinding within the downtown. At the October walking session, 
we will spend some time identifying locations for signs as well as what information 
should be included on the signs 

 Pedestrian Friendliness, walkability, and bike friendliness for the downtown – This 
includes not just parking areas but the downtown as a whole. Catherine is looking into a 
walking study that was done about 10 years ago to see if there are some areas 
identified that could benefit us now. We will also work with the City on next steps that 
they’ve identified as part of the annual joint meeting. 

 We spent a little time discussing Historic Preservation, and CLG. We will spend more 
time on this at our full board meeting.  



3 
 

 Opportunities for Public Art – the committee discussed revisiting the Bench Warming 
Project downtown in 2024. 
 

o Main Street Vibrancy Grant – 2022/2023  
 The painted social district boarder is mostly complete. There is some small touch up 

work that we need to do in a few locations. With the approval of the expansion of the 
social district, we will add a painted boarder in additional locations accordingly as well, 
once the state approves the expansion.  
 

o At the City Managers request, I am working on a design for updated street signs for the 
downtown area as well. The idea is that these would have more of a classic look that fits the 
characteristics of the downtown and also ties into our branding for Historic Lapeer and the City 
of Lapeer.  

 
Outreach – Organization & Promo and Marketing: 

• DDA Online (social media, Website)  
o Social Media – Facebook we currently have 6527 followers on Facebook, adding an additional 

65 new page followers in the last 28 days. We’ve reached an audience of 37,500 people. This is 
a 20% increase from last month.  
Our content in the last 28 days has been shared 209 times, received 1930 reactions and 
generating 209 comments. The overwhelming majority of which have been VERY positive of the 
projects that we have been doing downtown.  
 

• I’ve been heavily pushing shopping locally this month building up to Lapeer Days and encouraging 
businesses to promote themselves as well as take advantage of marketing through the DDA. As of this 
report 15 different businesses have taken me up on creating a graphic for them and being a part of our 
shop local promotion. This has gotten some positive feedback on social media and is a part of the 
reason engagement is up 20% this month.  

• I will be taking over the MDA social media pages on Tuesday, August 22nd. This will be an opportunity to 
highlight Lapeer on a state-wide platform. I did this last year and was able to highlight several 
businesses and programs within Historic Lapeer.  

 
Special Events: 

• The Special Events committee met on August 8 to discuss current DDA events. The notes from this 
meeting are attached to your packet.  

• The committee did discuss Keeping the focus on Porch Fest on September 23 and less on the Harvest 
Fest, just so that there is not a lot of confusion. The concern would be that it would feel like there is TOO 
much going on.  

• Upcoming events remaining this year include: 
o 3 more Monday Car Cruises 
o PorchFest – Sept. 23 
o Treat Walk – Oct. 28 
o Ladies Night Out – Nov. 17 
o WinterFest – Dec. 1 & 2 

 
Partnerships:  

• MSU FIT program 
 MSU has conducted their on site, first impression visit of Lapeer. The next step is to hold a 

public presentation of their findings. This presentation will take place on Tuesday, September 
19th. This presentation is open to the public and we are encouraged to make it an event. It 
should be a fun experience. Information to register for this is attached.  

Administrative: 
• Staff:   - I will be out of the office the last week of August, the 28th – Sept. 5 so that I can get married.  

 
James Alt 
Lapeer DDA Executive Director,   
810-728-6598 
james@lapeerdda.com 

mailto:james@lapeerdda.com


CITY OF LAPEER, 576 LIBERTY PARK, LAPEER, LAPEER COUNTY, MICHIGAN 48446 
2023 MEETING DATES 

In accordance with the Open Meetings Act, MCL 15.261 et. Seq., notice is hereby given that every meeting of the City Council, Boards, Authorities and Commissions of the 
City of Lapeer shall be open to the public.  Notice is further given that the following City Council, Boards, Authorities and Commissions are regular meeting dates for 2023.  A 
public notice of each special or rescheduled meeting will be posted at least 18 hours prior to the time of the meeting. 

Board/Commission Location Time January February March April May June July August September October November December 
City Commission Commission Chambers 6:30 P.M. 3, 17 6, 21 6, 20 3, 17 1, 5 5, 19 3, 17 7, 21 5, 18 2, 16 6, 20 4, 18 

1st & 3rd Monday   of each Month 
Cemetery Board 

3rd Thursday of Oct 
Mt. Hope Cemetery 
Building 

2:00 P.M. -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- 18 -- -- 

Downtown Development 
 Authority 

2nd Floor Conference 
Room 

8:00 A.M. 25 22 22 26 24 28 26 23 27 25 22 27 

4th Wednesday   of each Month 
Economic Development Corp 
(EDC) & Tax Increment 
Finance Auth (TIFA) 

2nd Floor Conference 
Room 

8:00 A.M. 
11 8 8 12 10 14 12 9 6 11 8 13 

2nd Wednesday   As needed 
Housing Commission 

3rd Thursday 
2nd Floor 
Conference Room 

4:00 P.M. 19 16 16 20 18 15 20 17 21 19 16 21 

 of each Month 
Local Development Finance 
Authority (LDFA) 

2nd Floor Conference 
Room 

8:00 A.M 7 6 5 5 

1st Tuesday March/June/Sept/ Dec as Needed 
Park Board -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- 1 -- 
Planning Commission Commission Chambers 6:30 P.M. 12 9 9 13 11 8 13 10 14 12 9 14 

2nd Thursday of each Month 
Zoning Board of Appeals Commission Chambers 6:30 P.M. 23 27 27 24 22 26 24 28 25 23 27 -- 

4th Monday of each Month 

Address of the above locations are as follows: 
Commission Chambers:    City Hall, 576 Liberty Park 
Mt. Hope Cemetery:          1230 Park Street 

Romona Sanchez, CMC 
City Clerk 

City of Lapeer  
576 Liberty Park, Lapeer  
Lapeer County, Michigan  48446   (810) 664-5231 

N-1



MAT. TRANS.   

 

To: City Commission 
Date: September 5, 2023 
RE: Material Transmittals 
 

1. Lapeer County Board of Commissioners Regular Board Meeting Agenda for 
August 24, 2023. 

2. Thank you letter from Lapeer Area Chamber of Commerce to the City of Lapeer for 
support for the Lapeer Days Festival. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



MT-1













































MT-2


	CITY COMMISSION AGENDA - 09-05-2023
	A-1 Minutes 08-21-2023 Regular
	C-1 SE - Porch Fest 2023
	D - Bill Listing 09-05-2023
	E-1 2023 National Rail Safety Week Proc
	G-1 Ord Amend - Text Amend - Essential Serv
	G-2 Resolution - DWRF
	J- Boards & Commissions
	K-1 DDA Monthly Report
	N-1 2023 Boards & Commission Meeting Dates
	Mat Trans 09-05-2023



